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Directors’ Report 
 

The directors present this Directors’ Report and the attached annual financial report of Andromeda Metals 
Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2019. In order to comply with the provisions of the 
Corporations Act 2001, the directors report as follows: 
 
Directors 
 

The names and details of the directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 

Rhoderick G J Grivas 
BSc (Geology), MAusIMM – Non-Executive Chairman 
 
Rhod Grivas is a geologist with over 25 years resource industry experience, including 17 years ASX listed 
company board experience. He is currently Non-Executive Chairman of ASX listed Golden Mile 
Resources Limited and was previously Managing Director of ASX and TSX listed gold miner Dioro 
Exploration NL, where he oversaw the discovery and development of a gold resource through feasibility 
into production. 
 
Mr Grivas has a strong combination of equity market, M&A, commercial, strategic and executive 
management capabilities. He is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit 
and Risk Committee.  
 
James E Marsh 
BSc (Hons), MAusIMM - Managing Director 
 
James Marsh is an industrial chemist and holds tertiary qualifications in chemistry and physics. He has 
extensive experience across a wide range of industrial minerals spanning a 25 year period, including 
senior technical and marketing roles with two global market leaders. He previously worked for 7 years as 
Business Development Manager for Active Minerals Australia, part of the Active Minerals International 
group, a worldwide leader in the production and marketing of kaolin and gel quality attapulgite clay 
minerals. 
 
Mr Marsh has been instrumental in developing and launching industrial minerals products into established 
and new applications globally and has a successful track record in general management and sales.  
 
Nicholas J Harding  
BA (Acc), Grad Dip (Acc), Grad Dip (App Fin), Grad Dip (Corp Gov), FCPA, F Fin, AGIA, ACIS 
Executive Director and Company Secretary 
 
Nick Harding is a qualified accountant and company secretary with over 30 years’ experience in the 
resources industry. He is a Fellow of CPA Australia, a Fellow of the Financial Services Institute of 
Australasia and a member of the Governance Institute of Australia and possesses qualifications in 
accounting, finance and corporate governance. 
 
Mr Harding has held various senior roles with WMC Resources Limited, Normandy Mining Limited and 
Newmont Australia Limited. At WMC Resources over a period of 14 years to 1999 he held a number of 
senior management roles at both minesites and regional offices in Western Australia and South Australia 
including five years as Chief Financial Officer for Olympic Dam Operations, and four years as Chief 
Accountant and Business Planning Manager for the Copper Uranium Division. 
 
In eight years from 1999 to 2006 at Normandy Mining and then Newmont Australia following the takeover 
by Newmont of Normandy, Mr Harding held the positions of General Manager Operations Finance and 
General Manager Planning and Analysis which respectively had responsibilities for accounting, finance 
and budgeting for 14 mining operations in Australia and overseas. 
 
Andrew N Shearer 
BSc (Geology), Hons (Geophysics), MBA – Non-Executive Director 
Audit and Risk Committee Chairman 
 
Andrew Shearer has been involved in the mining and finance industries for 24 years. With a geoscientific 
and finance background he has experience in the resources industry from exploration through to 
development. As a Resources Analyst, Mr Shearer has been exposed to the global resources sector 
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covering small to mid-cap resource stocks across a broad suite of commodities. Prior to moving into the 
finance sector he spent over a decade working in the minerals exploration industry in technical and senior 
management roles. 
 
Mr Shearer brings strong professional skills and experiences in equity research, investor relations, 
valuations, supply and demand analysis and capital markets. He is currently a Senior Resource Analyst 
with PAC Partners Pty Ltd and is also a Non-Executive Director of ASX listed Northern Cobalt Limited. 
 
Mr Shearer is the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee and a member of the Remuneration 
Committee. 
 
Directorships of other listed companies 
 
Directorships of other listed companies held by directors in the three years immediately before the end of 
the financial year are as follows: 
 

Name Company Period of Directorship 

R G J Grivas Golden Mile Resources Limited From March 2017 to present 

 Canyon Resources Limited December 2009 to July 2016 

A N Shearer Northern Cobalt Limited From March 2017 to present 

 
Principal Activities 
 
The principal activity of the Group is the advancement of the Poochera Halloysite-Kaolin Project through 
the completion of an initial Scoping Study to be followed by more detailed Feasibility Studies that will 
allow the Company to be in a position to make a decision to mine should the economic evaluation of the 
Project prove to be positive. 
 
Operating and Financial Review 
 
Strategy 
 
To achieve the goal of growing shareholder wealth, Andromeda Metals’ directors have formulated a 
Company strategy comprising the following key elements: 
 

 The Company will maintain a focus on advancing the Poochera Halloysite-Kaolin Project from 
Scoping and Pre-Feasibility Studies through to eventual development and production, should final 
modelling determine this to be commercially viable. Consideration of a number of production 
streams, including direct shipping of raw ore, product beneficiation on site of raw material through 
either dry or wet-processing for sale of processed kaolin to ceramic manufactures in Asia, and 
possible downstream production of HPA product most likely overseas, will be evaluated. Directors 
see the market for quality halloysite-kaolin product and HPA to be growing rapidly, and that the 
Poochera Project is a world-class deposit capable of supplying this rapidly expanding market. 
 

 The Company will fund research to assist in the development of new market opportunities for 
halloysite-kaolin given the high purity halloysite found at Poochera, Camel Lake and potentially 
Mount Hope and the forecast growth in demand for the product in emerging markets.  

 
 The Company’s Board believes it is in shareholders’ best interests to divest or enter joint venture 

arrangements for most of its portfolio of gold and copper projects in order to allow Andromeda 
Metals to focus of the advancement of the Poochera Project. To that end, during the 2018/19 
financial year the Company executed joint ventures with Evolution Mining Limited over the 
Drummond Epithermal Gold Project and Environmental Metals Recovery Pty Ltd over the 
northern part of the Moonta Copper-Gold Project. In addition, subsequent to the end of the 
financial year the Company sold the Rover Copper-Gold Project to a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Westgold Resources Limited. 

 
 The Company will adhere to principles of good corporate governance, caring for its employees, 

conducting its operations in an environmentally sensitive manner, and maintaining respect for 
other stakeholders and for the communities in which it operates. 
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Financial Results 
 
The net result of operations for the year was a loss after income tax of $1,113,181 (2018: loss of 
$832,707).  
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure for the year was $1,537,102 (2018: $1,071,032) with funds 
predominantly directed towards advancing the Poochera Halloysite-Kaolin Project. Net operating cash 
outflows for the year totalled $788,261 (2018: $659,043). At the 30 June 2019 the Company held cash 
and cash equivalents totalling $1,669,188 (2018: $861,211).  
 
On 7 August 2018 the Company raised $1,100,000 before costs under a share placement to professional 
and sophisticated investors at an issue price of 0.6 cents per share which resulted in the issue of 
183,333,333 ordinary shares. 
 
On 28 February 2019 the Company issued 271,076,923 ordinary shares under a share placement to 
professional and sophisticated investors at an issue price of 0.65 cents per share raising $1,762,000 
before costs. Participants in the placement were issued 3 listed options for every 4 new shares 
subscribed resulting in 203,307,712 listed options being issued having an exercise price of $0.012 cents 
and expiry date of 30 November 2020. 

 
Exploration and Evaluation Activities  
 
During the 2018/19 financial year Andromeda Metals’ exploration and evaluation effort was directed 
principally towards advancing the Poochera Halloysite-Kaolin Project which is the subject to a Joint 
Venture agreement entered into by the Company with Minotaur Exploration Limited (MEP). 

In addition, the Company announced the formation of the Drummond Gold Joint Venture with Evolution 
Mining Limited and the Moonta  Copper In-situ Recovery Joint Venture with Environmental Metals 
Recovery Pty Ltd. 

Poochera Halloysite‐Kaolin Project 

In June 2018 the Company exercised its option to acquire up to a 75% equity interest in the world class 
Poochera Halloysite-Kaolin Project in South Australia under a Joint Venture Agreement with Minotaur 
Exploration Limited (MEP).  During the twelve months since then the Company has advanced the project 
through to completion of an extremely positive Scoping Study in September 2019. 

The Poochera Project includes the Carey’s Well deposit, a high quality halloysite-kaolin resource that is 
highly valued by the ceramic industry for the manufacture of premium quality porcelain.  Demand for this 
mineral is increasing whilst global supply is reducing, which puts ADN in a strong position.  The extremely 
high purity of the halloysite-kaolin also makes it an ideal feed material for the manufacture high purity 
alumina (HPA). HPA is a new age material critical in the manufacture of high-tech products in the battery 
technologies and energy storage sector, LED lighting industry and sapphire glass used in smart phones 
and TV screens. During the year metallurgical process testing was carried out by independent chemical 
engineers which proved that the Carey’s Well mineral could be used to consistently produce 99.99% (4N) 
purity HPA with only one stage of purification.  This proved that it offers significant opportunities for cost 
savings in the HPA manufacturing process, as well as the ability to produce higher value end product.  
Collaborative opportunities are now being sought in this sector.   

The halloysite component of the mineral has a nanotube structure, which presents a large number of 
market opportunities in the nanotechnology sector.  A number of commercial applications already exist for 
this extremely rare and high value product, and yet global supply is almost non-existent.  Historic 
exploration on Poochera JV tenure has shown areas of high purity halloysite, and ADN carried out more 
exploration drilling in these areas during the last twelve months.  Testing of these drill samples is still in 
progress, and more extensive drilling is being planned. 

In August 2018 the Carey’s Well Mineral Resource was upgraded to 2012 JORC guidelines, which gave 
an increase from the previous 2004 JORC resource from 16.3 million tonnes to 23.9 million tonnes of 
bright white kaolinised granite using an ISO Brightness R457 cut-off of 75 for minus 45 micron kaolin 
product.  This was revised to 20.0 million tonnes once adjustments to mineral specific gravity had been 
made.  In February 2019 a further update to the Mineral Resource was released which reported a 
halloysite content of 9.7 million tonnes contained within the bright white kaolinised granite deposit at 
Carey’s Well. 
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During October 2018 a bulk sample of 215 tonnes of halloysite kaolin ore was extracted from Carey’s 
Well to be used for commercial scale wet and dry processing in China, Australia and the USA.  This work 
was designed to enable Scoping Study process design and to provide large scale product samples with 
the aim to lock in offtake agreements for supply of direct shipping ore (DSO) and dry-processed product.  
This resulted in offtake letters of intent (LOI) for a total of 405,000tpa from companies in China and 
Japan. 

Successful dry-processing trials were performed in Western Australia on 40 tonnes of the bulk sample 
material extracted. The results obtained indicated that this method of processing could be used to 
produce a final product for sale into the market.  Processed samples from these trials were sent to a 
number of potential customers in China and Japan for technical evaluation in ceramics applications, and 
as a feed for calcined kaolin production.  This testing resulted in offtake LOI's for 357,000tpa of this 
product and proved that a standard dry-processing technique could be utilised to manufacture a 
commercially acceptable product.  In addition to this, more bulk samples were shipped to China (two 
companies), and the USA to be processed on other commercially available dry-processing equipment.  
These trials also gave successful results and the data has been used in the Scoping Study evaluations. 

Approximately 135 tonnes of the bulk sample material were shipped to China ahead of commercial scale 
testing through a wet-refining facility, and this work is yet to be completed due to technical issues at the 
plant concerned. Wet-refining trials on twenty tonnes of ore are currently in progress at an alternative 
Chinese factory.  Once this is complete the resultant product will be tested by ceramic customers as a 
premium grade material. 

Collaborative work with the University of Newcastle’s Global Innovative Centre for Nanotechnology 
(GICAN) on halloysite nanotubes (HNT) has progressed well over the last twelve months.  As a result, 
ADN and MEP formed the Intellectual Property JV company ‘Natural Nanotech’ in May 2019 to capture 
and progress any IP opportunities.  An application for Federal funding has been made along with the 
University, which would be used to drive the HNT work in carbon capture and water purification towards 
commercialisation.  In addition to this another project is planned on the use of HNT’s in hydrogen 
transport and storage. 

During October 2018 ADN acquired tenements at Mount Hope in South Australia that include a historic 
resource of 12.2 million tonnes of halloysite-kaolin, and an exploration program is planned to upgrade this 
to a JORC 2012 resource. 

In September 2019 the Poochera Project tenure was significantly expanded to take in ground considered 
to be prospective for halloysite-kaolin and high-purity halloysite.  

Now that the ADN Scoping Study for the Poochera Project has been completed, resulting in a positive 
outcome, the Company will move to detailed Feasibility Studies and permitting approvals. 

Drummond Epithermal Gold Project 

On 31 August 2018 a binding Earn-in and Exploration Joint Venture Agreement was executed with 
Evolution Mining Limited (EVN) over the Drummond Gold Project which will see EVN spend up to $6.5 
million over four years to earn up to 80% equity in the project. The principal terms of the agreement 
include: 

 EVN to pay ADN a non-refundable cash consideration of $300,000 within 10 days of signing the 
Joint Venture Agreement; 

 EVN can earn an initial 51% equity interest in the project by sole funding $2.0 million on 
exploration activities across the project tenements within 2 years of execution of the Joint Venture 
Agreement (Stage 1 Commitment); 

 On completion of Stage 1, EVN may elect to acquire an additional 29% equity interest (80% in 
total) through payment to ADN of a further cash consideration of $200,000 within 10 business 
days of the election to continue to sole fund by EVN, and expenditure of an additional $4.0 million 
($6.5 million in total) over a further 2 years (4 years in total) (Stage 2 Commitment); 

 On completion of EVN’s sole funding commitments, either party may elect not to contribute to a 
proposed joint venture program and budget, in which case their interest in the joint venture will be 
reduced in accordance with a standard industry dilution formula; 

 If any party dilutes to less than 10% equity interest in the joint venture, then that party’s interest 
will been deemed to have converted to a 2% net smelter return royalty payable with respect to 
any minerals produced from the project tenements, capped to a maximum of $10.0 million. 
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The transaction will enable the Drummond Gold Project to be appropriately funded in order to explore a 
number of promising projects identified across the tenements to date using the skilled exploration 
resources of an experienced gold miner in the district. 

EVN has subsequently undertaken an extensive evaluation of a number of targets across the tenement 
which has included IP surveys at both Bunyip and South West Limey Dam prospects, ground magnetic 
surveys at both prospects and significant soil sampling at these prospects and a number of other 
prospects across the tenements.  

EVN conducted an extensive diamond drilling program which commenced in May and was still in 
progress at the end of the year. To the end of June a total of 3,706 metres had been drilled, initially at 
Bunyip and subsequently at South West Limey Dam prospects. A total of 5 diamond holes were drilled at 
Bunyip for 2,159 metres with a best intercept to date being 3 metres at 3.42g/t Au and 6.7g/t Ag from 7 
metres of which included 1 metre at 9.16g/t Au and 18.1g/t Ag from 9 metres. Final assays for the Bunyip 
program are still awaited.  

Drilling at Bunyip targeted a NNW-trending structural corridor that had been defined by geological 
mapping, surface geochemistry and interpreted geophysical data. At South West Limey Dam, to the end 
of the quarter a total of 3 diamond holes had been drilled for a total of 1,547 metres, with drilling 
continuing into July. No assay results have been received to date for the South West Limey Dam drilling. 

Subsequent to the end of the year, on 11 September 2019 EVN gave notice of its decision to proceed to 
Stage 2 under the Earn-in and Exploration Joint Venture Agreement over the Drummond Gold Project 
having met the $2.0 million expenditure requirement under Stage 1 within 2 years of execution of the 
agreement.  

Moonta Copper‐Gold Project 

The Company’s 100% owned Moonta Copper Gold Project is located towards the southern end of the 
world class Olympic Copper-Gold Province in South Australia and captures the historical ‘Copper 
Triangle’ mining district. On 19 December 2018, the Company announced it had agreed commercial 
terms for a binding Earn-in and Joint Venture Agreement with copper in-situ recovery (ISR) focused 
Environmental Metals Recovery Pty Ltd (EMR) to form the Moonta ISR Joint Venture covering the 
northern part of the Moonta tenement. The principal terms of the agreement include: 

 EMR can earn an initial 51% interest in the project area by sole funding $2.0 million on project 
related activities within 4 years of execution of the Joint Venture Agreement (Stage 1 
Commitment); 

 EMR is required to spend a minimum of $200,000 on the project in the first year and a further 
$300,000 in the second year under the Stage 1 Commitment; 

 On completion of Stage 1 Commitment, EMR may elect to acquire an additional 24% equity 
interest (75% in total) through expenditure of an additional $3.5 million ($5.5 million in total) over 
a further 3.5 years (7.5 years in total) (Stage 2 Commitment); 

 On completion of EMR’s sole funding commitments, ADN may elect not to contribute to a 
proposed joint venture program and budget, in which case its interest in the joint venture will be 
reduced in accordance with a standard industry dilution formula; 

 If ADN dilutes to less than 10% equity interest in the joint venture, then its interest will revert to a 
1.5% net smelter return royalty payable with respect to any minerals produced from the project 
area. 

While the transaction will lead to significant effort directed towards evaluating and potentially development 
of copper ISR applications across the northern part of the Moonta Project, the Company still retains 100% 
ownership of the balance of the Moonta tenement, which is highly prospective for copper mineralisation, 
and is open to considering third party involvement to explore and evaluate this project area. 

Pilbara Gold Project   

Following acquisition of the two legal entities in December 2017 which together hold applications over 
three tenements prospective for conglomerate hosted gold mineralisation in the Pilbara Region, efforts 
were directed towards working with respective Native Title groups to put in place heritage agreements, 
which is a requirement to having the tenement applications granted. These native title heritage 
agreements have now been executed by the Company with the respective indigenous groups. 
Consequently, the Company has now been granted title by the WA Mines Department to the 3 tenements 
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in the Pilbara that are considered prospective for gold conglomerates. 

The Company is now considering how best to move the project forward now that access to the tenements 
has been received. 

Eyre Peninsula Gold Project 

Following agreement of terms under a joint venture with Lady Alice Mines Pty Ltd (LAM) over the 
Company’s Eyre Peninsula Gold Project in late 2017, LAM has undertaken a thorough review of the 
extensive project database and resource determinations for the Project. Design of a new drilling program 
to follow-up and test results of this review in addition to the undertaking of a large calcrete sampling 
program and possible follow-up drilling of these new targets funded by LAM is scheduled to occur during 
2019. 

The Company was advised that LAM was acquired by London Stock Exchange Limited Cobra Resources 
PLC (Cobra) on 6 March 2019 and as a consequence Cobra is now acting as the operator of the Joint 
Venture. 

In May 2019, Cobra announced an increased Mineral Resource for the Wudinna Gold Project of 43 
million tonnes at 1.5g/t gold for 211,000 ounces comprising 4.02 million tonnes at 1.5g/t gold for 193,000 
ounces of Inferred Resource and 0.41 million tonnes at 1.4g/t for 18,000 ounces of Indicated Resource. 
The revised Mineral Resource covering the Barns, White Tank and Baggy Green deposits represents an 
increase of 5% in total contained gold and 15% in resource tonnes over the previous Mineral Resource 
estimate. 

Rover Copper‐Gold Project 

The Rover Copper Gold Project covers 287 km2 in the Rover Field southwest of Tennant Creek in the 
Northern Territory. The Rover field is prospective for ironstone hosted copper-gold deposits geologically 
identical to deposits found in the Tennant Creek Field, many of which exhibited high grades allowing them 
to be profitably mined in the past. 

Subsequent to the end of the year, on 2 August 2019 the Company executed a binding Sale and 
Purchase Agreement for the sale of the Rover Copper Gold Project to Castile Resources Pty Ltd, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Westgold Resources Limited, for a total cash consideration of $650,000. 

Thurlga Joint Venture 

On 19 September 2018 Investigator Resources Limited provided the Company with formal notification 
that it had decided to withdraw from the Thurlga Joint Venture as manager and return the Thurlga 
tenement to the Company. Consequently the joint venture has been dissolved and the tenement was 
returned to ADN full ownership. The Company subsequently made the decision to relinquish the Thurlga 
tenement given priorities are directed towards advancing the Poochera Project. 

Outlook and Future Developments 
The focus of the Company will predominantly be directed towards further advancing the Poochera 
Halloysite-Kaolin Project. Key steps include: 

 Completed the Scoping Study by September 2019; 

 Commencement of more detailed feasibility studies; 

 Commence regulatory permitting and approval processes; 

 Undertake environmental studies as part of the permitting process; 

 Undertake exploration activities on other prospects in the Poochera district; 

 Initiate exploration activities at the Camel Lake prospect; 

 Decide upon a logistics solution for transportation of ore from site to market; 

 Progress halloysite nanotechnology opportunities through the halloysite research joint venture 
with Minotaur Exploration. 

In addition, the Company will: 

 Undertake initial exploration activities on the 100% owned Mount Hope kaolin tenement; 
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 With the Pilbara tenements now granted, determine how best to move forward with the Pilbara 
Gold Project. 

 
Dividends 
 
No dividends were paid or declared since the start of the financial year, and the directors do not 
recommend the payment of dividends in respect of the financial year.  
 
Changes in State of Affairs 
 

There was no significant change in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year. 
 

Subsequent Events 
 
On 2 August 2019 the Company executed a binding Sale and Purchase Agreement for the sale of the 
Rover Copper Gold Project to Castile Resources Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Westgold 
Resources Limited, for a total cash consideration of $650,000 which was received on 3 September 2019. 
As the Project was fully impaired at 30 June 2019, the Company will recognise a gain on sale of $650,000 
in the 2019/20 financial year. 
 
On 11 September 2019 Evolution Mining Limited gave notice of its decision to proceed to Stage 2 under 
the Earn-in and Exploration Joint Venture Agreement over the Drummond Gold Project having met the 
$2.0 million expenditure requirement under Stage 1 within 2 years of execution of the agreement. The 
Company received a $200,000 cash payment on 20 September 2019 from Evolution as a condition under 
the agreement of the election to go to Stage 2. 
 
On 30 September 2019 the Company released the results of a Scoping Study on the Poochera 
Halloysite-Kaolin Project which showed it to be a technically sound and financially robust venture and as 
a result the Company would be moving to the next stage to evaluate the Project in greater detail through 
Feasibility Studies with a view to potentially bring it into production within two years. 
 
Other than the above, there were no other matters or circumstances occurring subsequent to the end of 
the financial year that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the 
consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in 
future financial years.  
 
Environmental Developments 
 

The Group carries out exploration activities on its properties in South Australia, Queensland and Western 
Australia. No mining activity has been conducted by the Group on its properties. 
 
The Group’s exploration operations are subject to environmental regulations under the various laws of 
South Australia, Queensland, Western Australia, and the Commonwealth. While its exploration activities 
to date have had a low level of environmental impact, the Group has adopted a best practice approach in 
satisfaction of the regulations of relevant government authorities. 
 
Meetings of Directors 
 
The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors attended by each director during the year 
ended 30 June 2019 was: 
 

 Meetings held while in office Meetings attended 

R G J Grivas 10 10 

J E Marsh 10 10 

N J Harding 10 10 

A N Shearer 10 10 

 
 
The Company held two meetings of the Audit and Risk Committee during the year ended 30 June 2019. 
The members of this committee comprise A N Shearer (Chairman) and R G J Grivas. 
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There were two meetings held of the Remuneration Committee during the year ended 30 June 2019. The 
members of this committee comprise R G J Grivas (Chairman) and A N Shearer. 
 
Non-Audit Services 
 
Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the 
auditor are outlined in Note 18 to the financial statements. 
 
The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year by the auditor (or by 
another person or firm on the auditor’s behalf) is compatible with the general standard of independence 
for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in Note 18 to the financial statements do 
not compromise the external auditor’s independence for the following reasons: 
 

 all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the 
integrity and objectivity of the auditor, and 

 
 none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out 

in Code of Conduct APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the 
Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s 
own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as 
advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards. 

 
Shares issued under the Loan Funded Employee Share Plan or issued on meeting the 
performance conditions 
 
Details of issued shares under the LFESP as at the date of this report were: 
 

Issuing entity 
Number of 

shares under 
LFESP 

Class of 
shares 

Exercis
e price 

of 
LFESP 
shares

Vesting date of 
LFESP shares 

 
Expiry date of 
LFESP shares 

Andromeda Metals Limited 2,812,500 Ordinary $0.010 31 December 2016 31 December 2020
Andromeda Metals Limited 378,000 Ordinary $0.018 31 December 2016 30 June 2021
Andromeda Metals Limited 1,792,000 Ordinary $0.010 31 December 2017 31 December 2021
Andromeda Metals Limited 2,100,000 Ordinary $0.006 31 December 2018 31 December 2022
Andromeda Metals Limited 750,000 Ordinary $0.007 23 May 2018 23 May 2023
 
 
Shares under share options or issued on exercising of share options 
 
Details of unissued shares under share options as at the date of this report were: 
 

Issuing entity 
Number of 

shares under 
share options

Class of 
shares 

Exercise 
price of share 

options

Expiry date of 
performance rights 

Andromeda Metals Limited 703,602,124 Ordinary $0.012 30 November 2020
Andromeda Metals Limited 20,000,000 Ordinary $0.012 15 November 2021
 
Details of shares issued during or since the end of the financial year as result of the vesting of share 
options are: 
 

Issuing entity 
Number of 

shares under 
share option

Class of 
shares 

Amount paid 
for shares 

Amount unpaid on 
shares 

Andromeda Metals Limited 986,039 Ordinary $0.012 $nil 
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Auditors Independence Declaration 
 
The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 17 of the financial report. 
 
Indemnification of Officers and Auditors 
 
During the year the Company arranged insurance cover and paid a premium for directors in respect of 
indemnity against third party liability.  At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 17 
November 1997 shareholders resolved to extend the indemnification for a period of seven years after a 
director ceases to hold office.  In accordance with the terms and conditions of the insurance policy, the 
amount of the premium paid has not been disclosed on the basis of confidentiality, as is permitted under 
Section 300 (9) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an 
officer or auditor of the Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred by an officer 
or auditor. 
 
Directors’ Shareholdings 
 

The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares in the Company as at the date of 
this report. 
 
 

 
Directors 

 
Fully paid ordinary 

shares 
Number

 
Options to acquire 

ordinary shares 
Number

R G J Grivas 2,699,055  12,745,159 

J E Marsh - 13,000,000 

N J Harding 5,876,993 7,723,998 

A N Shearer 2,361,673 8,496,773 

 10,937,721 41,965,930 

 
The above table includes shares held by related parties of directors. 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) 
 

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for directors and other key management 
personnel of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. 
 

 Director and Other Key Management Personnel Details 
 
The following persons acted as key management personnel of the Group during or since the end of the 
financial year: 
 
R G J Grivas (Non-Executive Chairman) 
J E Marsh (Managing Director) 
N J Harding (Executive Director and Company Secretary) 
A N Shearer (Non-Executive Director) 
 
Relationship between the Remuneration Policy and Company Performance 
 
The tables below set out summary information about the Group's earnings and movements in shareholder 
wealth for the five years to June 2019: 
 
 

 30 June 
2019 

30 June 
2018 

30 June 
2017 

30 June 
2016 

30 June 
2015 

Revenue 18,474 5,815 4,989 15,443 47,327 

Net profit / (loss) before tax (1,041,044) (683,544) (6,847,987) (3,882,933) (1,140,160) 

Net profit / (loss) after tax (1,113,181) (832,707) (6,908,847) (3,940,324) (1,189,928) 
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 30 June 
2019

30 June 
2018

30 June 
2017

30 June 
2016 

30 June 
2015

Share price at beginning of the year $0.007 $0.006 $0.02 $0.02 $0.04
Share price at end of year $0.015 $0.007 $0.006 $0.02 $0.02 
Basic earnings per share $(0.0010) $(0.0012) $(0.0174) $(0.0117) $(0.0044) 
Diluted earnings per share $(0.0010) $(0.0012) $(0.0174) $(0.0117) $(0.0044) 

 
No dividends have been declared during the five years ended 30 June 2019 and the directors do not 
recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June 2019. 
 
There is no link between the Company’s performance and the setting of remuneration except as 
discussed below in relation to shares issued under the Loan Funded Employee Share Plan (LFESP) for 
key management personnel. 
 
Remuneration Philosophy 
 
The performance of the Group depends on the quality of its directors and other key management 
personnel and therefore the Group must attract, motivate and retain appropriately qualified industry 
personnel.  The Group embodies the following principles in its remuneration framework: 
 
 provide competitive rewards to attract and retain high calibre directors and other key 

management personnel; 

 link executive rewards to shareholder value (by the granting of shares under the LFESP); 

 link reward with the strategic goals and performance of the Company; and 

 ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 

The above framework is reliant on the business having the financial capacity to deliver on the principles. 
Where this is not the situation, executive and director loyalty to shareholders may require short term 
sacrifice to maintain the viability of the business.  
 
Remuneration Policy 
 
The Company has established a Remuneration Committee to assist the Board in discharging its 
responsibilities relating to the remuneration of directors and other key management personnel. The 
Committee makes recommendations on all remuneration matters for consideration by the Board. 
 
The Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of such persons 
on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of 
ensuring maximum shareholder benefit from retention of high quality directors and other key management 
personnel. External advice on remuneration matters is sought whenever the Committee deems it 
necessary. No advice was obtained during the year ended 30 June 2019 (2018: nil). 
 
The remuneration of the directors and other key management personnel is not dependent on the 
satisfaction of a performance condition, other than as discussed below. 
 
Non-Executive Director Remuneration 
 
The Board of Directors seeks to set remuneration of Non-Executive Directors at a level which provides 
the Company with the ability to attract and retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost 
which is appropriate at this stage of the Company’s development. 
 
The Non-Executive Chairman is entitled to receive $50,000 (2018: $50,000) per annum excluding 
statutory superannuation. In addition, consulting fees paid during the year to the Non-Executive Chairman 
were $25,200 (2018: $7,200). The Non-Executive Director is entitled to receive $35,000 (2018: $35,000) 
per annum excluding statutory superannuation.  
 
In addition, Non-Executive Directors are entitled to be paid reasonable travelling, accommodation and 
other expenses incurred as a consequence of their attendance at meetings of directors and otherwise in 
the execution of their duties as directors. 
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Managing Director Remuneration 
 
The Company aims to reward the Managing Director with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate 
with his position and responsibilities within the Company to: 

 align the interests of the Managing Director with those of shareholders; 

 link reward with the strategic goals and performance of the Company; and 

 ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 
 
Other Key Management Personnel Remuneration 
 
The Company aims to remunerate other key management personnel at a level commensurate with their 
position and responsibility within the Company. 
 
Currently the Company has a service agreement with an entity associated with N J Harding, details of 
which are set out below. 
 
Summary of amounts paid to Key Management Personnel 
 
The table below discloses the compensation of the key management personnel of the Group during the 
year.  
 

 
2019 

Short-term 
employee benefits 

Salary & Fees (i) 
Post employment 
superannuation

 
 

Cash 
bonus(iii) Sub total

Share Based 
Payments (ii) Total

 $ $ $ $  $ 

R G J Grivas 75,200 4,750 - 79,950 - 79,950 

J E Marsh 182,649 20,822 36,529 240,000 63,256 303,256 

N J Harding 187,600 - - 187,600 36,821 224,421 

A N Shearer 35,000 3,325 - 38,325 - 38,325 

 2019 Total 480,449 28,897 36,529 545,875 100,077 645,952 

 
(i) Includes consulting fees paid. 
(ii) Share based payments do not represent cash payments to key management personnel and the 

related shares may or may not ultimately vest.  
(iii) James Marsh was paid an additional one-off cash payment of $40,000 inclusive of superannuation 

on 5 December 2018 following 6 months employment as was agreed in his employment contract. No 
other bonuses were granted during the financial year. 

 
 

 
2018 

Short-term 
employee benefits 

Salary & Fees (i) 
Post employment 
superannuation

 
 

Termination 
benefits Sub total

Share Based 
Payments (ii) Total

 $ $ $ $  $ 

R G J Grivas (iii) 40,805 3,192 - 43,997 52,344 96,341 

J E Marsh (vi) 16,759 1,592 - 18,351 - 18,351 

N J Harding 191,059 - - 191,059 4,255 195,314 

A N Shearer (iii) 23,523 2,235 - 25,758 34,896 60,654 

C G Jackson (iv) 19,067 1,811 - 20,878 - 20,878 

C G Drown (v) 179,095 - - 179,095 399 179,494 

J P Buckley (iv) 11,640 1,106 - 12,746 - 12,746 

 2018 Total 481,948 9,936 - 491,884 91,894 583,778 

 
(i) Includes consulting fees paid. 
(ii) Share based payments do not represent cash payments to key management personnel and the 

related shares may or may not ultimately vest. The amounts include a negative adjustment for 
performance rights granted in prior years that forfeited during the year due to not meeting the 
performance conditions (C G Drown $10,876 and N J Harding $3,764). 

(iii) Appointed 27 October 2017 
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(iv) Resigned 27 October 2017. 
(v) Resigned 26 April 2018 
(vi) Appointed 30 May 2018 
 
No key management personnel appointed during the year received a payment as part of his consideration 
for agreeing to hold the position. 
 
Service Agreements 
 
The Group entered into a service agreement with an entity associated with N J Harding for a term of six 
months to 31 December 2018. The service agreement has since continued under the same terms until 
the date of this report. 
 
Details of the current services and consultancy agreements are set out below: 

 
2019 
Kay Management Personnel Terms 

N J Harding Daily rate of $800 
 

2018 

Kay Management Personnel Terms 

C G Drown  Daily rate of $860 

N J Harding Daily rate of $765 

 
 
The Company or the entity associated with N J Harding may terminate the agreement by giving two 
months notice respectively. The Group has a contingent liability of $32,000 (2018: $30,600) in relation to 
this agreement, where the employee is not required to work out the notice period. 
 
The Group entered into a consultancy agreement with R G J Grivas on 27 October 2017 to provide 
consulting services on an as needs basis at the rate of $900 per day. A total of $25,200 (2018: $7,200) 
was paid under this agreement during the year. 
 
Payments under the above service agreements are included in the remuneration table. 
 
Shares held by Key Management Personnel under the Loan Funded Employee Share Plan 
 
At the Annual General Meeting held on 30 November 2015 the shareholders approved the Company’s 
LFESP. Fully paid ordinary shares will be held by the trustee of the LFESP and transferred to key staff 
member of the Company on achieving certain Company and personal KPIs and the payment of the share 
issue price, as long as the holder remains employed by the Company. An interest-free loan will be 
provided by the Company to each key staff member to acquire the shares that are held by the trustee 
under the terms of the LFESP. 
 
At the Annual General Meeting held on the 30 November 2015, the shareholder’s approved the granting 
of 4,500,000 fully paid ordinary shares to the former Managing Director and 2,500,000 ordinary shares to 
the Executive Director under the LFESP (the value of these shares issued to the former Managing 
Director and Executive Director were $24,119 and $13,400 respectively). The shares are to be 
transferred to the director on the achievement of those KPI’s met by 31 December 2016 and the payment 
of $0.01 per share for those shares to which vested by 1 January 2021. 
 
The KPIs for the former Managing Director were as follows: 
 

 up to 2,250,000 shares will vest based on the Company’s share performance against a peer 
group relative share price performance during the calendar year 2016; and 

 up to 2,250,000 shares will vest on the achievement of various KPIs based on his personal 
performance during the calendar year 2016. 

 
As at 31 December 2016 some of the KPIs were met resulting in 1,687,500 shares becoming unrestricted 
and 2,812,500 shares were returned to the trustee for future allocations. On payment of $0.01 per share 
the unrestricted shares were issued to the former Managing Director.  



Page 13 

 
The KPIs for the Executive Director were as follows: 
 

 up to 1,000,000 shares will vest based on the Company’s share performance against a peer 
group relative share price performance during the calendar year 2016; and 

 up to 1,500,000 shares will vest on the achievement of various KPIs based on his personal 
performance during the calendar year 2016. 

 
As at 31 December 2016 some of the KPIs were met resulting in 1,125,000 shares becoming unrestricted 
and 1,375,000 shares were returned to the trustee for future allocations. On payment of $0.01 per share 
the unrestricted shares will be issued to the Executive Director. As at the date of this report this has not 
occurred. 
 
At the Annual General Meeting held on the 30 November 2016, the shareholder’s approved the granting 
of 2,300,000 fully paid ordinary shares to the former Managing Director and 1,300,000 ordinary shares to 
the Executive Director under the LFESP (the value of these shares issued to the former Managing 
Director and Executive Director were $16,647 and $9,409 respectively). The shares are to be transferred 
to the director on the achievement of those KPI’s met by 31 December 2017 and the payment of $0.01 
per share for those shares to which vested by 1 January 2022. 
 
The KPIs for the former Managing Director were as follows: 
 

 up to 1,150,000 shares will vest based on the Company’s share performance against a peer 
group relative share price performance during the calendar year 2017; and 

 up to 1,150,000 shares will vest on the achievement of various KPIs based on his personal 
performance during the calendar year 2017. 

 
As at 31 December 2017 some of the KPIs were met resulting in 1,012,000 shares becoming unrestricted 
and 1,288,000 shares were returned to the trustee for future allocations. On payment of $0.01 per share 
the unrestricted shares were issued to the former Managing Director. 
 
The KPIs for the Executive Director are as follows: 
 

 up to 520,000 shares will vest based on the Company’s share performance against a peer group 
relative share price performance during the calendar year 2017; and 

 up to 780,000 shares will vest on the achievement of various KPIs based on his personal 
performance during the calendar year 2017. 

 
As at 31 December 2017 some of the KPIs were met resulting in 780,000 shares becoming unrestricted 
and 520,000 shares were returned to the trustee for future allocations. On payment of $0.01 per share the 
unrestricted shares will be issued to the Executive Director. As at the date of this report this has not 
occurred. 
 
At the Annual General Meeting held on the 30 November 2017, the shareholder’s approved the granting 
of 1,800,000 fully paid ordinary shares to the former Managing Director and 1,800,000 ordinary shares to 
the Executive Director under the LFESP (the value of these shares issued to the former Managing 
Director and Executive Director were $7,143 and $7,143 respectively). The shares are to be transferred 
to the director on the achievement of those KPI’s met by 31 December 2018 and the payment of $0.006 
per share for those shares to which vested by 1 January 2023. 
 
The KPIs for the former Managing Director were as follows: 
 

 up to 900,000 shares will vest based on the Company’s share performance against a peer group 
relative share price performance during the calendar year 2018; and 

 up to 900,000 shares will vest on the achievement of various KPIs based on his personal 
performance during the calendar year 2018. 

 
The former Managing Director resigned on 26 April 2018. The Board determined that 300,000 shares 
become unrestricted and 1,500,000 shares returned to the trustee for future allocation. On payment of 
$0.006 per share the unrestricted shares were issued to the former Managing Director. 
 
The KPIs for the Executive Director are as follows: 
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 up to 720,000 shares will vest based on the Company’s share performance against a peer group 

relative share price performance during the calendar year 2018; and 
 up to 1,080,000 shares will vest on the achievement of various KPIs based on his personal 

performance during the calendar year 2018. 
 
As at 31 December 2018 the Board determined that all of the KPIs were met resulting in 1,800,000 
shares becoming unrestricted. On payment of $0.006 per share the unrestricted shares will be issued to 
the Executive Director. As at the date of this report this has not occurred. 
 
Value of shares granted under the LFESP – basis of calculation 
 

 Value of shares granted under the LFESP is calculated by multiplying the fair value of shares 
granted by the number of shares granted during the financial year. 

 

 The shares are issued once the KPIs have been met and the loan has been repaid. The value 
of shares issued under the LFESP is calculated by multiplying the fair value of shares at the 
date of issue (calculated as the difference between consideration paid and the Australian 
Securities Exchange last sale price on the day that the shares were issued) by the number of 
shares issued during the financial year. 

 

 Value of shares granted under the LFESP forfeited/cancelled is calculated by multiplying the 
fair value of shares granted at the time they were forfeited/cancelled multiplied by the number 
of shares forfeited/cancelled during the financial year. 

 

The total value of shares granted under the LFESP included in compensation for the financial year is 
calculated in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 2 “Share-based Payment”. Shares granted 
under the LFESP during the financial year are recognised in compensation over their vesting period. 
 
Equity holdings of Key Management Personnel as at 30 June 2019 

 
Fully paid ordinary shares issued by Andromeda Metals Limited 

 

 
Balance 
01/07/18 

Issued as part 
payment of 

director fees

Other 
Changes 

Balance 
30/06/19 

R G J Grivas - 2,699,055 - 2,699,055 

J E Marsh - - - - 

N J Harding 2,171,993 - - 2,171,993 

A N Shearer - 2,361,673 - 2,361,673 

  
Listed options issued by Andromeda Metals Limited 
 

 
Balance  
01/07/18 

Granted Exercised  Lapsed 
Balance 
30/06/19 

Vested and 
exercisable

R G J Grivas 12,745,159 - - - 12,745,159 
See Note 14 

for details

J E Marsh - - - - - 
See Note 14 

for details

N J Harding 723,998 - - - 723,998 
See Note 14 

for details 

A N Shearer 8,496,773 - - - 8,496,773 
See Note 14 

for details
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 15 

Unlisted options issued by Andromeda Metals Limited 
 

 
Balance  
01/07/18 

Granted Exercised  Lapsed 
Balance 
30/06/19 

Vested and 
exercisable

R G J Grivas - - - - - 
See Note 14 

for details 

J E Marsh - 13,000,000 - - 13,000,000 
See Note 14 

for details

N J Harding - 7,000,000 - - 7,000,000 
See Note 14 

for details 

A N Shearer - - - - - 
See Note 14 

for details 
 
 
Shares held by the trustee of the LFESP 

 

 
Balance  
01/07/18 

Granted Exercised 
Forfeited/  
Cancelled

Balance 
30/06/19 

Vested and 
exercisable

N J Harding 3,705,000 - - - 3,705,000 
See Note 16 

for details
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed in Adelaide this 30th day of September 2019 in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 
 

 
        
J E Marsh    A N Shearer   
Managing Director    Non-Executive Director 
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Competent Person and JORC 2012 Compliance Statements 
 
Poochera Halloysite-Kaolin Project Resource Estimates 
The data in this report that relates to Mineral Resource Estimates including Exploration Target for the Carey’s Well 
Kaolin Project is based on information evaluated by Mr Simon Tear who is a Member of The Australasian Institute of 
Mining and Metallurgy (MAusIMM) and who has sufficient experience relevant to the style of mineralisation and type 
of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as 
defined in the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore 
Reserves (the “JORC Code”).  Mr Tear is a Director of H&S Consultants Pty Ltd and he consents to the inclusion in 
the report of the Mineral Resource in the form and context in which they appear. 
 
The data in this report that relates to the Minotaur Exploration Results for the Poochera Kaolin Project is based on 
information evaluated by Dr Antonio Belperio who is a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy 
(FAusIMM), an executive director of Minotaur and part-time consultant to Andromeda. Dr Belperio has sufficient 
experience relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he 
is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code for 
Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (the “JORC Code”).  Dr Belperio consents to 
inclusion in this document of the information in the form and context in which it appears. 
 
Poochera Halloysite-Kaolin Project metallurgical testwork 
Information in this announcement relating to the Process Development Test Work is based on test work results 
completed by BHM Process Independent Consultants and compiled by Mr James Marsh, a member of The 
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM). Mr Marsh an employee of the Andromeda Metals Limited 
has sufficient experience, which is relevant to metal recovery from the style of mineralisation and type of deposits 
under consideration and to the activity being undertaking to qualify as a Competent Persons under the 2012 Edition 
of the ‘Australasian Code for reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. This includes 
over 29 years of experience in kaolin processing and applications. Mr Marsh consents to the inclusion of the technical 
data in the form and context in which it appears. 
 
Wudinna Gold Camp Mineral Resource Estimates 

The data in this report that relates to the Estimation and Reporting of Mineral Resources has been compiled by Mrs 
Christine Standing BSc Hons (Geology), MSc (Min Econs), MAusIMM, MAIG. Mrs Standing is a full-time employee of 
Optiro and has acted as an independent consultant on the Mineral Resource estimates for the Barns, White Tank and 
Baggy Green deposits.  Mrs Standing is a Member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists and the Australian 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and has sufficient experience with the style of mineralisation, deposit type under 
consideration and to the activities undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the 
JORC Code. Mrs Standing consents to the inclusion in this report of the contained technical information relating to 
the Mineral Resource estimations in the form and context in which it appears. 
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
11 Waymouth Street 
Adelaide, SA, 5000 
Australia 
 
Phone: +61 8 8407 7000 
www.deloitte.com.au 
 

30 September 2019 

 

 

The Board of Directors  
Andromeda Metals Limited 
69 King William Road 
UNLEY SA 5061 
 
 

Dear Board Members  

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to Andromeda Metals Limited 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following 
declaration of independence to the directors of Andromeda Metals Limited. 

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial report of Andromeda Metals Limited for the year ended 
30 June 2019, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions 
of: 

(i) The auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; 
and 

(ii) Any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 

Darren Hall 
Partner  
Chartered Accountants 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the 
Year ended 30 June 2019 

 

  
 

Note 

Year Ended 
30/06/19 

$

Year Ended 
30/06/18 

$ 

Revenue  4(a) 18,474 5,815 

Other income 4(b) 486 207,564 

    

Impairment of exploration expenditure 8 - - 

Exploration expense written off 8 (135,484) (87,975) 

Administration expenses  (308,535) (282,165) 

Corporate consulting expenses  (201,403) (213,794) 

Company promotion  (62,426) (36,712) 

Salaries and wages  (105,617) (21,528) 

Directors fees  (85,000) (94,569) 

Occupancy expenses  (61,200) (55,200) 

Share based remuneration  (100,339) (104,980) 

Loss before income tax  4(b) (1,041,044) (683,544) 

Tax expense 5 (72,137) (149,163) 

Loss for the period  (1,113,181) (832,707) 

    

Other comprehensive income, net of income tax  - - 

    
 
Total comprehensive income for the period

 (1,113,181) (832,707) 

    

Earnings Per Share    

 Basic (cents per share) – (Loss)/profit 24 (0.10) (0.12) 

 Diluted (cents per share) – (Loss)/profit 24 (0.10) (0.12) 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2019 
 

 Note 
30/06/19 

$
30/06/18 

$ 

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents  1,669,188 861,211 

Trade and other receivables 6 117,538 33,110 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  1,786,726 894,321 

    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 8 6,442,897 5,341,279 

Plant and equipment 9 11,899 7,750 

Other financial assets 7 124,966 108,000 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  6,579,762 5,457,029 

TOTAL ASSETS  8,366,488 6,351,350 

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 10 455,997 193,943 

Other liabilities 11 468 - 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  456,465 193,943 

    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Provisions 12 21,000 16,724 

Other liabilities 13 975,517 975,517 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  996,517 992,241 

    

TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,452,982 1,186,184 

    

NET ASSETS  6,913,506 5,165,166 

    

EQUITY    

Issued capital 14 42,756,559 40,025,378 

Reserves 15 562,719 432,379 

Accumulated losses  (36,405,772) (35,292,591) 

    

TOTAL EQUITY  6,913,506 5,165,166 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the 
Year ended 30 June 2019 

 
  

Issued capital 
 

Share Option 
Reserve 

Employee 
Equity-Settled 

Benefits 
Reserve

 
Accumulated 

losses 

 
 

Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
  
Balance at 1 July 2017 38,055,344 - 36,433 (34,459,884) 3,631,893
  
Loss attributable to the period - - - (832,707) (832,707) 
Total comprehensive income for the 
period 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(832,707) 

 
(832,707) 

  
Issue of share capital through a 
placement at 0.5 cents 

 
1,006,309

 
-

 
-

 
- 

 
1,006,309

Issue of share capital through a rights 
issue at 0.5 cents  

 
985,631

 
-

 
-

 
- 

 
985,631

Costs associated with the issue of 
shares 

 
(497,208)

 
279,165

 
-

 
- 

 
(218,043)

Related income tax 149,163 -  - 149,163 
Shares issued on the exercise of listed 
options 

 
69,597 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
69,597 

Shares issued on the exercise of 
unlisted options 

 
30,007 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
30,007 

Transfer from other liabilities on 
exercise of listed options 

 
6,123 

 
11,801 

 
- 

 
- 

 
17,924 

Fair value of options issued to new 
directors 

 
- 

 
87,240 

 
- 

 
- 

 
87,240 

Issue of shares for acquisition of 
Pilbara tenements 

 
180,000 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
180,000 

Issue of shares as part payment of 
director fees 

 
40,412 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
40,412 

Fair value of shares issued to 
employees under the loan funded 
employee share plan 

 
 

-

 
 

-

 
 

17,740

 
 

- 

 
 

17,740
 
Balance at 30 June 2018 

 
40,025,378

 
378,206

 
54,173

 
(35,292,591) 

 
5,165,166

  
Loss attributable to the period - - - (1,113,181) (1,113,181) 
Total comprehensive income for the 
period 

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
(1,113,181) 

 
(1,113,181)

      
Issue of share capital through a 
placement at 0.6 cents 

 
1,100,000

 
-

 
-

 
- 

 
1,100,000

Issue of share capital through a rights 
issue at 0.65 cents 

 
1,762,000

 
-

 
-

 
- 

 
1,762,000

Costs associated with the issue of 
shares 

 
(240,456)

 
30,001

 
-

 
- 

 
(210,455)

Related income tax 72,137 - - - 72,137 
Fair value of options issued to directors - 97,317 - - 97,317
Issue of shares as part payment of 
director fees 

 
37,500

 
-

 
-

 
- 

 
37,500

Fair value of shares issued to 
employees under the loan funded 
employee share plan 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

3,022 

 
 

- 

 
 

3,022 
  
  
Balance at 30 June 2019 42,756,559 505,524 57,195 (36,405,772) 6,913,506 

 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the  
Year ended 30 June 2019 

 

 Inflows/(Outflows) 

 
Year Ended 

30/06/19 
$

Year Ended 
30/06/18 

$ 

Cash flows relating to operating activities   

Receipts from customers - 6,600 

Payments to suppliers and employees (788,261) (665,643) 

Net operating cash flows (Note (a)) (788,261) (659,043) 

   
Cash flows relating to investing activities   

Interest received 9,704 6,170 

Refund of environmental bond - 16,047 

Payment of environmental bonds (16,500) (500) 

Government grants received - 87,365 

Purchase of tenements (Note 27) - (100,000) 

Payments for exploration and evaluation expenditure (1,342,864) (769,493) 

Joint venture cancellation fee received - 145,000 

Payment received from joint venture partner 300,000 - 

Proceeds from the sale of plant and equipment - 4,200 

Payments for plant and equipment (5,647) (6,154) 

Net investing cash flows (1,055,307) (617,365) 

   
Cash flows relating to financing activities   

Proceeds from share and equity options issued 2,862,000 2,091,544 

Payments for capital raising costs (210,455) (222,261) 

Net financing cash flows 2,651,545 1,869,283 

   

Net increase in cash 807,977 592,875 

Cash at beginning of financial year  861,211 268,336 

   

Cash at end of financial year 1,669,188 861,211 

   
Note (a): Reconciliation of loss for the period to net cash flow from 
operating activities. 

  

Loss for the period (1,113,181) (832,707) 

Interest revenue (18,473) (5,815) 

Share based remuneration 100,339 104,980 

Fair value of equity options - (48,389) 

Director fees paid in shares 37,500 40,412 

Depreciation 3,873 2,664 

Gain on sale of plant and equipment - (4,200) 

Exploration written off or impaired 135,484 87,975 

Settlement on cancellation of joint venture - (145,000) 

Share issue costs 72,137 149,163 

(Increase) decrease in receivables (52,222) (17,531) 

Increase/(decrease) in payables 41,538 1,895 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 4,744 7,510 

Net operating cash flows (788,261) (659,043) 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2019 
 
1. General information 
 

Andromeda Metals Limited (the Company) is a listed public company, incorporated in Australia and 
operating in Australia. 
 
Andromeda Metals Limited’s registered office and its principal place of business are as follows:  
 
Registered office Principal place of business 
69 King William Road 69 King William Road 
Unley  Unley 
South Australia  5061 South Australia  5061 

 
2. Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards  
 

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations 
and effective for the current annual reporting period, resulting in no material change to amounts 
recognised and disclosed in the financial report.   
 
Various other Standards and Interpretations were on issue but were not yet effective at the date of 
authorisation of the financial report. The issue of these Standards and Interpretations do not affect the 
Group’s present policies and operations. The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards 
and Interpretations in future periods will not affect the amounts recognised in the financial statements 
of the Group but may change the disclosure presently made in the financial statements of the Group.  

 
3.  Significant accounting policies  
 

Statement of compliance 
 
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and comply 
with other requirements of the law. The financial statements comprise the consolidated statements of 
the Group. For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company is a profit 
entity. 
  
Accounting Standards include Australian Accounting Standards. Compliance with Australian 
Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes of the Company and the Group 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’).  
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 30th September 2019. 

 
Basis of preparation 
 
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of 
certain non-current assets and financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the 
consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless 
otherwise noted. 
 
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described below, management is 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. 
 
Significant management judgement 
 
The following are significant management judgements in applying the accounting policies of the Group 
that have the most significant effect on the financial statements. 
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Estimation uncertainty 
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and 
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be 
substantially different. 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires 
judgement in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits are likely either from future 
exploration or sale or where activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable 
assessment of the existence of reserves. The determination of a Joint Ore Reserves Committee 
(JORC) resource is itself an estimation process that requires varying degrees of uncertainty depending 
on sub-classification and these estimates directly impact the point of deferral of exploration and 
evaluation expenditure. The deferral policy requires management to make certain estimates and 
assumptions about future events or circumstances, in particular whether an economically viable 
extraction operation can be established. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new 
information becomes available. 

 
Ore reserve and resource estimates 
The Group estimates its ore reserves and mineral resources based on information compiled by 
Competent Persons (as defined in the 2012 edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of 
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Resources (the JORC Code). Reserves determined 
in this way are taken into account in the calculation of impairment expenditure. 

 
Going Concern 

 
The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes that the Group will 
be able to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at 
amounts stated in the financial report.   
 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 the Group incurred a net loss of $1,113,181 (30 June 2018: 
$832,707), had a net cash outflow from operating activities of $788,261 (30 June 2018: $659,043) and 
net cash outflows from investing activities (principally exploration and evaluation expenditure) of 
$1,055,307 (2018: $617,365).  At 30 June 2019, the Group has cash reserves of $1,669,188 (30 June 
2018: $861,211).  

 
The directors have prepared a cash flow forecast which indicates that, after receiving the payments 
from the sale of the Rover Project and from Evolution Mining electing to proceed with Stage 2 of the 
Drummond Gold Joint Venture in September 2019, there is not sufficient cash to fund planned 
exploration and evaluation expenditures, along with meeting all working capital requirements, and 
cash resources will be exhausted by 29 February 2020.  The Group will be required to secure 
additional funding of at least $1,600,000 by 29 February 2020 for the Group to proceed with their 
planned exploration and evaluation activities through to 30 September 2020.   
 
Based on the Group’s cash flow forecast and achieving the funding referred to above, the Directors 
believe that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern.  If the Group is unable to 
successfully secure the above additional funding, there is significant uncertainty as to whether the 
Group will continue as a going concern and, therefore, whether it will realise its assets and extinguish 
its liabilities in the normal course of business.  The financial report does not include any adjustments 
relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or to the amount and 
classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Group not continue as a going concern. 

 
Accounting Policies 

 
a) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and bank deposits. 
 

b) Employee benefits 
 

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, 
annual leave, long service leave, and sick leave when it is probable that settlement will be 
required and they are capable of being measured reliably.  Liabilities recognised in respect 
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of employee benefits, expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their 
nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.  
Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled 
within 12 months are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to 
be made by the consolidated entity in respect of services provided by employees up to 
reporting date. 
 
Contributions to accumulated benefit superannuation plans are expensed when incurred. 
 

c) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures in relation to each separate area of interest, are 
recognised as an exploration and evaluation asset in the year in which they are incurred 
where the following conditions are satisfied: 
 
i) the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and 
 
ii) at least one of the following conditions is also met: 
 

 the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped 
through successful development and exploration of the area of interest, or 
alternatively, by its sale: or 

 
 exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the 

reporting date reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the 
existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and 
significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.  

 
Exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured at cost and include acquisition of 
rights to explore, studies, exploration drilling, trenching and sampling and associated 
activities.  General and administrative costs are only included in the measurement of 
exploration and evaluation costs where they relate directly to operational activities in a 
particular area of interest. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and 
circumstances (as defined in AASB 6 “Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources”) 
suggest that the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets may exceed its 
recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount of the exploration and evaluation assets (or 
the cash-generating unit(s) to which it has been allocated, being no larger than the relevant 
area of interest) is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  Where 
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had 
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years.  
 
Where a decision is made to proceed with development in respect of a particular area of 
interest, the relevant exploration and evaluation asset is tested for impairment, reclassified to 
development properties, and then amortised over the life of the reserves associated with the 
area of interest once mining operations have commenced. 
 
Farm-outs – exploration and evaluation phase 
The consolidated entity accounts for the treatment of farm-out arrangements under AASB 6 
Evaluation of Mineral Resources under these arrangements: 

 the farmor will not capitalise any expenditure settled by the farmee; 
 any proceeds received that are not attributable to future expenditure are initially 

credited against the carrying amount of any existing exploration and evaluation 
asset; and 

 to the extent that the proceeds received from the farmee exceed the carrying 
amount of any exploration an evaluation asset that has already been capitalised by 
the farmor, this excess is recognised as a gain in profit or loss.  
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d) Financial assets 
  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial 
position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial 
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either 
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. 
Classification of financial assets Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are 
measured subsequently at amortised cost: 

 
• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial 

assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Debt 
instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI): 

 
• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 

collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and  
  
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 

are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. By 
default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL). Despite the foregoing, the Group may make the following irrevocable 
election/designation at initial recognition of a financial asset: 

 
• the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 

investment in other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and 
 

• the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch. Amortised cost and effective interest method. The effective interest 
method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period.  

 
Amortised cost and effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over 
the relevant period. For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired 
financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all 
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, 
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to 
the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 

 
Impairment of financial assets  
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt 
instruments that are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade 
receivables and contract assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts. The amount 
of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk 
since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument. The Group always recognises 
lifetime ECL for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables. The expected 
credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the 
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
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debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where 
appropriate. 

 
 

e) Goods and service tax 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax 
(GST), except: 
 
i) where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is 

recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of 
expense or: 

ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST, the net amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables. 

 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as 
part of receivables or payables. 
 
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of 
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 
 

f) Impairment of assets (other than exploration and evaluation) 
 
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset 
does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the consolidated entity 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have 
not been adjusted. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.  
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to 
the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-
generating unit) in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal 
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 
 

g) Income tax 
 
Current tax 
 
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable 
in respect of the taxable profit or tax loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and 
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. Current tax for 
current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid 
(or refundable). 
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Deferred tax 
 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in 
respect of temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base of those 
items. 
 
In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable 
amounts will be available against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax 
losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 
recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of 
assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) which affects neither 
taxable income nor accounting profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in 
relation to taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to 
the period(s) when the asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on 
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacting by reporting date. 
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that 
would follow from the manner in which the consolidated entity expects, at the reporting date, 
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority and the company/consolidated entity intends to settle its current tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 
Current and deferred tax for the period  
 
Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, except when it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, 
in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where it arises from 
the initial accounting for a business combination, in which case it is taken into account in the 
determination of goodwill or excess. 
 
Tax consolidation  
 
The Company and all its wholly-owned Australian resident entity are part of a tax-
consolidated group under Australian taxation law.  Andromeda Metals Limited is the head 
entity in the tax-consolidated group.  Tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and 
deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax-
consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of 
the tax-consolidated group using the ‘separate taxpayer within group’ approach.  Current tax 
liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits 
of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised by the Company (as head 
entity in the tax-consolidated group). 
 
Due to the existence of a tax funding arrangement between the entities in the tax-
consolidated group, amounts are recognised as payable to or receivable by the Company 
and each member of the group in relation to the tax contribution amounts paid or payable 
between the parent entity and the other members of the tax-consolidated group in 
accordance with the arrangement.  Further information about the tax funding arrangement is 
detailed in Note 5 to the financial statements.  Where the tax contribution amount recognised 
by each member of the tax-consolidated group for a particular period is different to the 
aggregate of the current tax liability or asset and any deferred tax asset arising from unused 
tax losses and tax credits in respect of that period, the difference is recognised as a 
contribution from (or distribution to) equity participants. 
 

h) Joint arrangements 
 
Interests in jointly controlled operations are reported in the financial statements by including 
the consolidated entity’s share of assets employed in the joint arrangements, the share of 
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liabilities incurred in relation to the joint arrangements and the share of any expenses 
incurred in relation to the joint arrangements in their respective classification categories. 
 

i) Financial instruments issued by the Company 
 
Debt and equity instruments 
 
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangement.  An equity instrument is any contract that 
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.  
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs. 
 
Other financial liabilities 
 
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 
 
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of 
the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 
 

j) Plant and equipment 
 
Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. In the event 
that settlement of all or part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by 
discounting the amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the date of 
acquisition. 
 
Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line 
basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated 
residual value. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method is 
reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period. 
 
The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 
 
 Plant and equipment – at cost 3-5 years 
 

k) Principles of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company 
and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.  
Control is achieved when the Company: 
 

• has power over the investee; 
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

 
The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.  
 
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power 
over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct 
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.  The Company considers all relevant facts 
and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company's voting rights in an investee 
are sufficient to give it power, including: 
 

• the size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of 
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  holdings of the other vote holders; 
• potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 
• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 
• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not 

have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to 
be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders' meetings. 

 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary 
and ceases when the Company loses control of the subsidiary.  Specifically, income and 
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the 
Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the 
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.  Total comprehensive income of 
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests 
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

 
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 
their accounting policies into line with the Group's accounting policies. 

 
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to  
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.  
 
Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group 
losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.  The carrying 
amounts of the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the 
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.  Any difference between the amount by 
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid 
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 

 
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
and is calculated as the difference between the aggregate of the fair value of the 
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and the previous carrying 
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests.  All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to 
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable AASBs).  The fair value of 
any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded 
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under AASB 139, when 
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture. 

 
l) Revenue  

 
Interest revenue 

 
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at 
the effective interest rate applicable, which is that rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying 
amount. 
 

m) Share-based payments 
 
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are 
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.  Details regarding the 
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in Note 
16. 

 
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of 
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity.  At the 
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end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity 
instruments expected to vest.  The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is 
recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, 
with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled employee benefits reserve. 

 
n) Government grants 

 
Government grants are assistance by government in the form of transfers of resources to the 
Group in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operating 
activities of the entity. 
 

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group 
will comply with the conditions attached to them and the grant will be received.  Government 
grants whose primary condition is to assist with exploration activities are recognised as 
deferred income in the balance sheet and recognised as income on a systematic basis when 
the related exploration and evaluation is written off. 
Other government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match 
them with the related costs which they are intended to compensate on a systematic basis.  
Government grants receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or 
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the consolidated entity with no future 
related costs are recognised as income in the period in which it becomes receivable. 
 
 

o) Business combinations 
 

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. 
The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of their fair values (at 
the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments 
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. 
Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where 
they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below). All other subsequent changes 
in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability are accounted 
for in accordance with relevant Standards.  Changes in the fair value of contingent 
consideration classified as equity are not recognised. 
 

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in 
the acquired entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the 
Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.  
Amounts arising from interest in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have 
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, 
where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of. 
 

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions 
for recognition under AASB 3(2008) are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, 
except that: 

• deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit 
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with AASB 112 
“Income Taxes” and AASB 119 “Employee Benefits” respectively; 

• liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Group of an 
acquiree’s share-based payment awards are measured in accordance with AASB 
2 “Share-based Payment”; and 

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with 
AASB 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are 
measured in accordance with that Standard. 

 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting 
period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items 
for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the 
measurement period (see below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect 
new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition 
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date. 
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The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group 
obtains complete information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition 
date, and is subject to a maximum of one year. 
 

 
 
 
 4. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS  

  
Year Ended 

30/06/19 
$

Year Ended 
30/06/18 

$ 

 a) Revenue from continuing operations consisted of 
the following items 

  

 Interest income:   

  Bank deposits 18,474 5,815 

 
 

b) Loss for the year includes the following gains and 
losses 

  

 Other income   

 Gain on sale of plant and equipment - 4,200 

 Joint venture cancellation fee - 145,000 

 Realised foreign exchange gain 39 - 

 Change in fair value of equity options (Note 11) - 17,132 

 Sub-lease rent and administration charge - 9,975 

 Other 447 - 

  486 176,307 

    

 Other expenses   

 Employee benefit expense:   

  Post employment benefits:   

  Accumulated benefit superannuation plans 47,831 16,284 

  Share based payments:   

  Equity settled share-based payments (shares 
issued under the LFESP) (i) 

 
 

100,339 

 
 

104,980 

  Other employee benefits 719,809 541,564 

  967,979 662,828 

 
Less amounts capitalised in exploration and evaluation  
expenditure 

(401,729) (221,272) 

  466,250 441,556 

 
Depreciation of plant and equipment 3,873 2,664 

Operating lease rental expenses 61,200 55,200 

 
(i) Share based payments relate to the amortisation of shares granted under the LFESP to employees.  

Shares granted under the LFESP do not represent cash payments and may or may not be exercised 
(paying the related loan amount) by the employee. 
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  5. INCOME TAX  

  
Year Ended 

30/06/19 
$

Year Ended 
30/06/18 

$ 
 (a) Income tax recognised in profit or loss   

 
The prima facie income tax expense on the loss before income 
tax reconciles to the tax expense in the financial statements as 
follows: 

  

 
 
Loss from continuing operations (1,041,044) (683,544)

  
Income tax income calculated at 30% 

 
(312,313) 

 
(205,063) 

 Share based payments 30,102 31,382 

 Change in fair value of equity options - (14,517) 

 Other 37,807 134 

 Tax losses previously recognised now not recognised 781,294 (139,266) 

 Current year tax losses not recognised (464,753) 476,493 

 Tax expense 72,137 149,163 

 
The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian corporate 
entities on taxable profits under Australian tax law. There has been no change in the corporate tax rate when 
compared with the previous reporting period. 

  

 
(b)   Recognised tax assets and liabilities 

 
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

  
30/06/19 

$
30/06/18 

$ 

 Trade and other receivables (2,514) (23) 

 Exploration and evaluation expenditure (1,973,830) (1,518,384) 

 Capital raising costs 183,029 188,755 

 Trade and other payables 24,974 27,487 

 Employee benefits 6,440 5,017 

 Other liabilities 33,450 33,450 

  (1,728,451) (1,263,698) 

 Tax value of losses carried forward 1,728,451 1,263,698 

 Net deferred tax assets / (liabilities) - - 

 
 
     (c) Unrecognised deferred tax assets: 

 
A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of the following item: 
 

 30/06/19 30/06/18 

 $ $ 

  Tax losses-revenue 10,962,407 9,142,977 

 
A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of the above tax losses because it is not probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the consolidated entity can utilise the benefit. 
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(d) Movement in recognised temporary differences and tax losses 
 30/06/19 30/06/18 

 $ $ 

Opening balance - - 

Recognised in equity 72,137 149,163 

Recognised in income (72,137) (149,163) 

Closing balance - - 

 
 

Tax consolidation 
 
Relevance of tax consolidation to the consolidated entity 
 
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are in a tax-consolidated group and are therefore 
taxed as a single entity.  The head entity within the tax consolidated group is Andromeda Metals Limited. 
 
Nature of tax funding arrangement 
 
Entities within the tax-consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement with the head entity.  
Under the terms of the tax funding arrangement, Andromeda Metals Limited and its wholly owned Australian 
resident entities have agreed to pay a tax equivalent payment to or from the head entity, based on the current tax 
liability or current tax asset of the entity.  Such amounts are reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to 
other entities in the-consolidated group. 
 
 

6. CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  

  
30/06/19 

$
30/06/18 

$ 
 Interest receivable 8,378 76 

 Other receivables 109,160 33,034 

  117,538 33,110 

 
  7. OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 

    At amortised cost:   

  Bank deposits (Note 21 (c)) 92,966 92,500 

          Environmental bonds 32,000 15,500 

  124,966 108,000 

 
 
8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE 

30/06/19 
$

30/06/18 
$ 

 Costs brought forward 5,341,279 4,358,222 

 Expenditure incurred during the year 1,237,102 1,071,032 

 6,578,381 5,429,254 

 Expenditure impaired - - 

 Expenditure written off (135,484) (87,975) 

 6,442,897 5,341,279 

 
 Exploration impaired relates to exploration and evaluation expenditure associated with projects where the 

Group is not currently planning to carry out any further work. 
  

Expenditure written off relates to exploration and evaluation expenditure associated with tenements or parts 
of tenements that have been surrendered.  
 
The recoverability of the carrying value of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on successful 
development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest. 
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9. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
  30/06/19 

$
30/06/18 

$ 
 Gross carrying amount 
 Balance at beginning of financial year 326,874 387,231 
 Additions 8,022 6,154
 Disposals and write offs - (66,511) 
 Balance at end of financial year 334,896 326,874 
    
 Accumulated depreciation 
 Balance at beginning of financial year (319,124) (382,971) 
 Depreciation for year (3,873) (2,664)
 Disposals and write offs - 66,511
 Balance at end of financial year (322,997) (319,124)
  
 Net book value at beginning of financial year 7,750 4,260 
 Net book value at end of financial year 11,899 7,750

 
 

10. CURRENT LIABILITIES – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 Trade payables and accruals 455,997 193,943 

 
 

11. CURRENT LIABILITIES – OTHER 
 

 

 Employee benefits 468 - 

 Equity options - - 

  468 - 

    

 Movement in employee benefits 
 
Balance at the beginning of the year 

 
 

-

 
 

-
 Leave accrued 15,220 - 

 Leave taken 14,752 - 

 Closing value 468 - 

    

 Movement in equity options   

 Balance at the beginning of the year - 66,313 

 Value on issue -        - 
 Change in fair value - (17,132) 

 Options exercised - (10,798) 

 Options lapsed - (38,383) 

 Closing value - - 
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30/06/19 
$

30/06/18 
$ 

 
12. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS 
 

Employee benefits 21,000 16,724 

 
 
 

13. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – OTHER   

Deferred income (government grant) 975,517 975,517 

 
14. ISSUED CAPITAL   

  

 
1,355,499,211 fully paid ordinary shares 
(2018: 896,028,227)  

42,879,479 40,148,298 

 Treasury stock (122,920) (122,920) 

 42,756,559 40,025,378 

 
      Movement in issued shares for the year:     
 

 Number 
Year Ended 

30/06/19 
$

Number 
Year Ended 

30/06/18 
$

 Fully paid ordinary shares     
 Balance at beginning of financial year 896,028,227 40,148,298 453,104,875 38,178,264 
 Placement at 0.6 cents 183,333,333 1,100,000 - - 
 Placement at 0.65 cents* 271,076,923 1,762,000 - - 
 Placement at 0.5 cents* - - 201,261,718 1,006,309 
 Rights issue at 0.5 cents* - - 197,125,999 985,631 
 Issue of shares for acquisition of Pilbara 

tenements 
 

-
 

-
 

30,000,000 
 

180,000
 Issue of shares as part payment of director 

fees 
 

5,060,728
 

37,500
 

6,735,373 
 

40,412
 Exercise of listed options - - 5,799,802 69,597 
 Transfer from other liabilities on exercise of 

listed options 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

6,123 
 Exercise of unlisted options - - 2,000,460 30,007 
 Costs associated with the issue of shares - (240,456) - (497,208) 
 Related income tax - 72,137 - 149,163 

 Balance at end of financial year 1,355,499,211 42,879,479 896,028,227 40,148,298 

 Treasury stock     

 Balance at beginning of financial year (9,940,000) (122,920) (9,940,000) (122,920) 
 Share issue under Loan Funded Employee 

Share Plan at 1.0 cent 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 Share issue under Loan Funded Employee 

Share Plan at 1.8 cents 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 Balance at end of financial year (9,940,000) (122,920) (9,940,000) (122,920) 

      

 Total issued capital 1,345,559,211 42,756,559 886,088,227 40,025,378 

 
* One free option per share with an exercise price of $0.012 and an expiry date of 30 November 2020 were also 
issued. 
 
 
Changes to the then Corporations Law abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in 
relation to share capital from 1 July 1998. Therefore, the Company does not have a limited amount of 
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authorised capital and issued shares do not have a par value. 
 
Fully paid shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends. 
 
On 7 August 2018 the Company issued 183,333,333 ordinary shares under a placement to 
professional and sophisticated investors at an issue price of 0.6 cents per share raising $1,100,000 
before costs. 
 
A total of 5,060,728 ordinary shares were issued to Non-Executive Directors on 3 December 2018 as 
payment of partly deferred director fees as approved by shareholders. 
 
On 28 February 2019 the Company issued 271,076,923 ordinary shares under a placement to 
professional and sophisticated investors at an issue price of 0.65 cents per share raising $1,762,000 
before costs. Participants in the placement were issued 3 listed options for every 4 new shares 
subscribed resulting in 203,307,712 listed options being issued having an exercise price of $0.012 
cents and expiry date of 30 November 2020. 
 
 
Share Options on Issue 
 
At 30 June 2018 there were 486,280,451 listed share options on issue having an exercise price of 1.2 
cents and an expiry date of 30 November 2020. On 24 April 2019 a further 218,307,712 listed share 
options were issued under the same terms as part of a placement. This amount included 15,000,000 
listed options issued to the broker who facilitated the fundraising as part of their fee. None of these 
listed share options were exercised during the year leaving 704,588,163 listed share options on issue 
at 30 June 2019. 
 
At 30 June 2018 there were 2,476,507 unlisted share options on issue having an exercise price of 1.5 
cents and an expiry date of 31 March 2019. None of these unlisted options were exercised during the 
year and the unlisted lapsed on 31 March 2019. 
 
On 3 December 2018, 20,000,000 unlisted options were issued with an exercise price of 1.2 cents 
and an expiry date of 15 November 2021. 
 

 
15. RESERVES 

 
 
 

 
30/06/19 

$
30/06/18 

$ 

 Share option reserve 505,524 378,206 

 Employee equity-settled benefits reserve 57,195 54,173 

 562,719 432,379 

 
The employee equity-settled benefits reserve arises on the granting of shares to employees, 
consultants and executives under the Loan Funded Employee Share Plan (LFESP).  Amounts are 
transferred out of the reserve and into issued capital when the shares under the LFESP are 
exercised.  Further information about share based payments made under the plan is shown in Note 
16 to the financial statements. 

 
 
16. LOAN FUNDED EMPLOYEE SHARE PLAN 
 

The Loan Funded Employee Share Plan (LFESP) is an ownership-based compensation plan for 
executives, employees and consultants. 

 
At the Annual General Meeting held on 30 November 2015 the shareholders approved the Company’s 
LFESP. Fully paid ordinary shares will be held by the trustee of the LFESP and transferred to 
executives, employees and consultants of the Company on achieving certain Company and personal 
KPIs and the payment of the share issue price, as long as the holder remains employed by the 
Company. An interest-free loan will be provided by the Company to each staff member to acquire the 
shares that are held by the trustee under the terms of the LFESP.  
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At the Annual General Meeting held on the 30 November 2015, the shareholder’s approved the 
granting of 4,500,000 shares to the former Managing Director and 2,500,000 shares to the Executive 
Director under the LFESP and held by the trustee of the Plan at an issue price of $0.01 per share 
along with associated loans of the same value. The shares will transfer to the individual executive on 
the achievement of a number of KPIs set by the Board of Directors for the 2016 calendar year. 
 
On 30 June 2016, directors approved the issue of 2,940,000 shares to key staff members under the 
LFESP and held by the trustee of the Plan at an issue price of $0.018 per share along with 
associated loans of the same value. The shares will transfer to the individual staff member on the 
achievement of a number of KPIs set by the Board of Directors for the 2016 calendar year. 
 
At the Annual General Meeting held on the 30 November 2016, the shareholder’s approved the 
granting of 2,300,000 shares to the former Managing Director and 1,300,000 shares to the Executive 
Director under the LFESP and held by the trustee of the Plan at an issue price of $0.01 per share 
along with associated loans of the same value. The shares will transfer to the individual executive on 
the achievement of a number of KPIs set by the Board of Directors for the 2017 calendar year. 
 
At the Annual General Meeting held on the 30 November 2017, the shareholder’s approved the 
granting of 1,800,000 shares to the former Managing Director and 1,800,000 shares to the Executive 
Director under the LFESP and held by the trustee of the Plan at an issue price of $0.006 per share 
along with associated loans of the same value. The shares will transfer to the individual executive on 
the achievement of a number of KPIs set by the Board of Directors for the 2018 calendar year.  
 
On 23 May 2018 director approved the issue of 750,000 shares to a key staff member under the 
LFESP and held by the trustee of the Plan at an issue price of $0.007 per share along with an 
associated loan of the same value. The shares will transfer to the individual staff member on the 
achievement of a number of KPIs set by the Board of Directors for the 2018 calendar year. 
 
The following LFESP shares were in existence during the financial year 

 
Rights - Series 

 
Number 

 
Grant Date

 
Vesting Date

Fair value at 
grant date

   
Series 1 
Series 2 
Series 3 
Series 4 
Series 5 
 

7,000,000 
2,940,000 
3,600,000 
3,600,000 

750,000 

30/11/2015 
30/06/2016 
30/11/2016 
30/11/2017 
23/05/2018 

As described above 
As described above 
As described above 
As described above 
As described above 

$0.005 
$0.003 
$0.007 
$0.004 
$0.007 

 
Movement in shares granted under the Loan Funded Employee Share Plan during the year 
 
As at 30 June 2019 the number of shares granted to executives and employees is 7,832,500 (2018: 
7,082,500) and the amount held by the trustee of the LFESP is 2,107,500 (2018: 2,857,500 that are 
available to be issued to executives and employees. 
 
The following reconciles the shares granted under the Plan at the beginning and end of the financial 
year: 
 

Loan Funded Employee Share Plan 30/06/19 30/06/18 

 
Number of 

LFESP 
shares 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$

Number of 
LFESP  
shares 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$

Balance at beginning of financial year  7,832,500 0.009 7,294,500 0.011 

Granted during the financial year  - - 4,350,000 0.006 

Exercised during the financial year - - - - 

Forfeited during the financial year - - (1,808,000) 0.010 

Cancelled during the financial year  - - (2,004,000) 0.009 

Balance at end of the financial year  7,832,500 0.009 7,832,500 0.009 

Exercisable at end of year 7,832,500 0.009 5,282,500 0.010 
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The shares granted under the LFESP that are exercisable at year end had an exercise price of $0.009 
(2018: $0.010) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 923 days (2018: 1,091). 
 

 
17. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION  
 

The key management personnel of Andromeda Metals Limited during the year were: 
 
 R G J Grivas (Non-Executive Chairman) 
 J E Marsh (Managing Director) 
 N J Harding (Executive Director and Company Secretary) 
 A N Shearer (Non-Executive Director) 
 
The aggregate compensation of Key Management Personnel of the Group is set out below: 

 

 
Year Ended 

30/06/19 
$

Year Ended 
30/06/18 

$ 

Short-term employee benefits 480,449 481,948 

Post employment benefits 28,897 9,936 

Cash bonus 36,529 - 

Share-based payments (i) 100,077 91,894 

 645,952 583,778 

 
(i) Share based payments do not represent cash payments to key management personnel and the 

related shares may or may not ultimately vest. 
  

 
18. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS  
 
 

 
30/06/19 

$
30/06/18 

$ 

    
 Audit or Review of the Company’s financial report 52,000 59,000 

 Tax return preparation and advice 10,950 10,950 

  62,950 69,950 

 
The auditor of Andromeda Metals Limited is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. 

 
  

19. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 

a) Equity interests in related parties 
 

Equity interests in subsidiaries 
Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 25 to the 
financial statements. 
 
Interests in joint arrangements 
Details of interests in joint arrangements are disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements. 

 
b) Key Management Personnel compensation 

 
Details of key management personnel compensation are disclosed in Note 17. 

 
c) Transactions with Key Management Personnel 

 
Other than as disclosed in Note 16 and Note 21(b), there were no transactions with key 
management personnel or their personally related entities during the year ended 30 June 2019 
(2018: Nil).  
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20. THIRD PARTY INTERESTS 
 

       The Group had interests in unincorporated joint arrangements at 30 June 2019 as follows: 
 

 
Percentage 
Interest 2019 

Percentage 
Interest 2018

 Moonta Porphyry Joint Venture (note i) – Copper/Gold Exploration 90% 90% 

 Thurlga Joint Venture (note ii) – Copper/Gold Exploration N/A 25% 

 Rover Copper Gold Project (note iii) – Copper/Gold Exploration 100% 100% 

 Wudinna Gold Joint Venture (note iv) – Gold Exploration 100% 100% 

 
Poochera Joint Venture (note v) – Halloysite-Kaolin Evaluation and 
Development 

0% 0% 

 Drummond Gold Joint Venture (note vi) – Gold Exploration 100% N/A 

 Moonta Copper ISR Joint Venture (note vii) – Copper in-situ recovery 100% N/A 

 Halloysite Nanotechnology Joint Venture (note viii) - halloysite research 100% N/A 

 
(i) The Group has an option to purchase the remaining 10% at any time for a 

consideration of $200,000 cash or the equivalent of $200,000 in Andromeda Metals 
Limited shares. 
 

(ii) Under the terms of the Joint Venture Agreement, Investigator Resources Limited (IVR) 
was required to spend $750,000 by 30 June 2017 on exploration activities on the 
Group’s Thurlga tenement located on the Eyre Peninsula to earn a 75% equity interest 
in the tenement. Thereafter each party could contribute to ongoing expenditure in 
respect to their joint venture holding or else elect to dilute. Should a party’s equity fall 
to 5%, its share will be automatically acquired by the other party in exchange for a 1% 
Net Smelter Royalty. IVR had met its expenditure obligation by 30 June 2017 and had 
earned a 75% equity in the Thurlga Joint Venture. On 19 September 2018 IVR gave 
notice that it wished to withdraw from the Joint Venture and transfer its equity in the 
Thurlga tenement back to the Company. The Thurgla tenement was subsequently 
dropped by the Company. 

 
(iii) Refer to note 27. 

 
(iv) Under the terms of the Wudinna Farm-in and Joint Venture Agreement, Lady Alice 

Mines Pty Ltd (LAM) is required to spend $2,100,000 by 30 October 2020 on 
exploration activities across tenements comprising the Company’s Eyre Peninsula 
Gold Project to earn a 50% equity interest in the Project. LAM can then elect to sole 
fund a further $1,650,000 over a further two years to increase its equity to 65% and 
then an additional $1,250,000 over a further year to move to 75% equity interest in the 
project. Thereafter each party may contribute to ongoing expenditure in respect to 
their joint venture holding or else elect to dilute. Should a party’s equity fall below 5%, 
its equity will be compulsory acquired by the other party at a price to be negotiated in 
good faith or as determined by an independent valuer. LAM is required to spend 
$100,000 before it has a right to withdraw from the Joint Venture. 

 
(v) Under the terms of the Poochera Joint Venture Agreement, the Company can acquire 

a 51% equity interest in the tenements located on the Eyre Peninsula currently held by 
Minotaur Exploration Limited (MEP) that contain high-quality halloysite-kaolin deposits 
on spending $3,000,000 by 24 April 2020 on advancing the project through exploration 
and evaluation activities and feasibility studies. $400,000 is required to be spent by 
the Company before it has the right to withdraw. ADN can elect to sole fund a further 
$3,000,000 over a further three years to acquire an additional 24% equity in the 
Project. The Company’s interest will immediately convert to 75% ownership prior to 
the completion of the second stage contribution if a decision to mine is determined by 
both parties to the agreement. Thereafter each party may contribute to ongoing 
expenditure in respect to their joint venture holding or else elect to dilute. If any party 
dilutes to less than 5% equity interest, then its interest will be acquired by the other 
party for a modest sum and covert to a 2% net smelter royalty.  
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(vi) The Drummond Gold Joint Venture was established on 31 August 2018 with Evolution 

Mining Limited (EVN) to explore epithermal gold prospects across the Company’s 
Drummond Gold Project in north Queensland. Under the terms of the joint venture, 
EVN is required to sole fund $2.0 million on exploration expenditure under Stage 1 
within 2 years of execution and pay the Company $300,000 at the time of entering the 
joint venture. Subsequent to the end of the financial year, on 11 September 2019 EVN 
advised it had met its Stage 1 expenditure commitment and elected to proceed to 
Stage 2 which will require it to spend another $4.0 million over the next 2 years and 
pay the Company a further $200,000 to earn an overall 80% equity interest in the 
Project. 

 
(vii) The Moonta Copper ISR Joint Venture was established on 19 December 2018 with 

Environmental Metals Recovery Pty Ltd (EMR) to progress the potential to recover 
copper via in-situ leach recover technique across the northern part of the Company’s 
Moonta tenement in South Australia. Under the terms of the joint venture EMR will 
sole fund $2.0 million over 4 years to earn a 51% equity interest in the project area. 
EMR can elect to move to a 75% interest in the project by spending a further $3.5 
million over an additional 3.5 years.  

 
(viii) The Halloysite Technology Joint Venture is a collaborative partnership with Minotaur 

Exploration Limited established on 16 May 2019 to undertake research and 
development to develop intellectual property and investigate commercial applications 
for halloysite-kaolin nanotubes sourced from the Poochera Halloysite-Kaolin Project. 
Under the terms of the agreement the Company is required to contribute $350,000 of 
R&D expenditure by June 2020 to earn a 50% equity interest in a newly incorporated 
company named Natural Nanotech Pty Ltd which will hold the intellectual property 
developed on behalf of the joint venture partners. 

 
The amount included in mining tenements, exploration and evaluation (Note 8) includes $6,387,639 
(2018: $2,574,999) relating to the above joint arrangements. 

 
 

21. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 

(a) Exploration Expenditure Commitments 
 

The Group has certain obligations to perform exploration work and expend minimum amounts of 
money on such works on mineral exploration tenements. 
 
These obligations will vary from time to time, subject to statutory approval. The terms of current and 
future joint ventures, the grant or relinquishment of licences and changes to licence areas at renewal 
or expiry, will alter the expenditure commitments of the Company. 
 
Total expenditure commitments at balance date in respect of minimum expenditure requirements not 
provided for in the financial statements are approximately: 

 

 
2019 

$
2018 

$ 

Not later than one year (i) 650,500 1,481,000 

Later than one year but not later than two years: 700,917 1,789,000 

Later than two years but not later than five years: 2,596,215 6,437,000 

 
(i) Commitments are shown net of third party contractual payments under the arrangements 

disclosed in note 20. Consequently, the commitments in the table above relate to the 
Poochera, Mt Hope, Moonta and Pilbara Projects only 

 
(b) Service Agreements 
 

The Group entered into a service agreement with an entity associated with N J Harding for a term 
of six months to 31 December 2018. The service agreement has since continued under the same 
terms until the date of this report. 
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Details of the current services and consultancy agreements are set out below: 
 
 
2019 
Kay Management Personnel Terms 

N J Harding Daily rate of $800 
 

2018 

Kay Management Personnel Terms 

C G Drown  Daily rate of $860 

N J Harding Daily rate of $765 

 
 

The Company or the entity associated with N J Harding may terminate the agreement by giving two 
months notice respectively. The Group has a contingent liability of $32,000 (2018: $30,600) in 
relation to this agreement, where the employee is not required to work out the notice period. 
 
The Group entered into a consultancy agreement with R G J Grivas on 27 October 2017 to provide 
consulting services on an as needs basis at the rate of $900 per day. A total of $25,200 (2018: 
$7,200) was paid under this agreement during the year. 
 

 (c) Bank Guarantees 
 
The Group has provided restricted cash deposits of $92,500 as security for the following 
unconditional irrevocable bank guarantees: 
 

 A performance bond of $50,000 (2018: $50,000) to the Central Land Council, Northern 
Territory, 

 An environment bond of $10,000 (2018: $10,000) to the Minister for Mineral Resources 
Department, South Australia, 

 A rent guarantee of $32,500 (2018: $32,500) to the landlord of the Company’s leased office 
premises. 

 
(d) Operating Lease   
 

Operating lease relates to the lease of office space which expires on 31 January 2020 (2018: 31 
August 2018) The Group does not have an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the 
lease period. 

 
        Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 
   

  
2019 

$
2018 

$ 

 
 Not longer than 1 year 40,600 9,200 

 Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years - - 

 Longer than 5 years - - 

  40,600 9,200 

 
 

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

Capital risk management 
 
The Group aims to manage its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a 
going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity 
balance. 
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to equity 
holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and accumulated losses. 
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Due to the nature of the Group’s activities (exploration) the directors believe that the most advantageous 
way to fund activities is through equity and strategic joint venture arrangements. The Group’s exploration 
activities are monitored to ensure that adequate funds are available. 
 
Categories of financial instruments 

 

 
2019

$
2018 

$ 
Financial assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 1,669,188 861,211 
Trade and other receivables  117,538 33,110 
Other financial assets 124,966 108,000 
   
Financial liabilities  
Trade and other payables 455,997 193,943 
Other liabilities 468 - 

 
Interest rate risk management 
 
The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the 
liquidity risk management section of this note. 
 
Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
 
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both 
derivative and non-derivative instruments at the reporting date and the stipulated change taking place at 
the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period. 
 
At reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were 
held constant, the Group’s net profit would increase/decrease by $6,326 (2018: increase/decrease by 
$2,824).  This is mainly attributable to interest rates on bank deposits. 
 
The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased due to the increase in the current holding in cash 
compared to the prior year. 
 
Credit risk management 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of 
financial loss from activities.  
 
The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 
counterparties having similar characteristics.  The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the 
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.  
 
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for 
losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of 
any collateral obtained. 
 
Liquidity risk management 
 
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, who has built an 
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and 
long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.  The Group manages liquidity risk by 
maintaining adequate reserves. 
 
Liquidity and interest risk tables 
 
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based 
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and 
principal cash flows.  
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Weighted average 
effective interest 

rate
Less than one 

year 

 % $
2019 
Non-interest bearing - 455,997 
 
2018 
Non-interest bearing - 193,943 

 
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:   

 the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and 
traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices. 

 the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are 
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow 
analysis using prices from observable current market transactions. 

 the book value approximates the fair value. 
 
 

23. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 

The Group has a number of exploration licenses in Australia which are managed on a portfolio basis. 
The decision to allocate resources to individual projects in the portfolio is predominantly based on 
available cash reserves, technical data and the expectations of future metal prices. Accordingly, the 
Group effectively operates as one segment, being exploration in Australia. This is the basis on which 
internal reports are provided to the directors for assessing performance and determining the 
allocation of resources within the Group. 

 
 

24. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

 
Year Ended 

30/06/19 
Cents per share 

Year Ended 
30/06/18 

Cents per share

Basic earnings per share – Profit / (loss) (0.10)  (0.12) 

Diluted earnings per share – Profit / (loss) (0.10)  (0.12) 

   

Basic earnings per share   
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used 
in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows:

  

 $ $ 

- Earnings (1,113,181) (832,707) 

   

 Number Number 

- Weighted average number of ordinary shares 1,143,839,122 701,701,705 
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Diluted earnings per share   
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used 
in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as follows: 

  

 $ $ 

- Earnings (1,113,181) (832,707) 

   

 Number Number 

- Weighted average number of ordinary shares 1,143,839,122 701,701,705 

 

 
Year Ended 

30/06/19 
Number 

Year Ended 
30/06/18 
Number

The following potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive and are 
therefore excluded from the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares for the purposes of diluted profit / (loss) per share: 

  

- Listed share options 704,588,163 486,280,451 

- Unlisted share options 20,000,000 2,476,507 

- LFESP shares 9,940,000 9,940,000 

 734,528,163 498,696,958 

 
25. CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 

 
 

  
Ownership Interest 

Name of Entity  Country of 
Incorporation

2019 
% 

2018 
%

Parent Entity 
Andromeda Metals Limited 

 
 

(i)

 
 

Australia

 
 

100% 

 
 

100%

Subsidiaries 
Adelaide Exploration Pty Ltd 

 
 

(ii) 

 
 

Australia 

 
 

100% 

 
 

100% 
   Peninsula Resources Pty Ltd  
  ADN LFESP Pty Ltd 

(ii) 
(ii) (iii) 

Australia 
Australia 

100% 
100% 

100% 
100% 

  Mylo Gold Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100% 100%
  Frontier Exploration Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100% 100% 
  Andromeda Industrial Minerals Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100% 0%

 
(i) Head entity in tax consolidated group 
(ii) Members of tax consolidated group 
(iii) The Company acts as the trustee to the Loan Funded Employee Share Plan. 
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26. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 
 

 30/06/19 
$

30/06/18 
$ 

Financial Position  
   
Assets 
Current assets 1,786,658 894,271 
Non-current assets 5,334,592 4,077,481
Total assets 7,121,250 4,971,752 
   
Liabilities 
Current liabilities 456,466 193,945 
Non-current liabilities 21,000 16,724
Total liabilities 477,466 210,669 
   
Equity 
Issued capital 42,756,559 40,025,378 
Reserves 562,719 432,379
Accumulated losses (36,675,494) (35,696,674) 
Total equity 6,643,784 4,761,083 
  

 Year Ended 
30/06/19 

$

Year Ended 
30/06/18 

$ 
Financial Performance   
  
Profit / (loss) for the year (978,820) (1,236,790) 
Other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive income (978,820) (1,236,790) 

 
Commitment for expenditure and contingent liabilities if the parent entity 
 
Note 21 to the financial statements disclose the Group’s commitments for expenditure and 
contingent liabilities. Of the items disclosed in that note the following relate to the parent entity: 
 

 service agreements 
 bank guarantees 
 operating leases 

 
 

27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
On 2 August 2019 the Company executed a binding Sale and Purchase Agreement for the sale of 
the Rover Copper Gold Project to Castile Resources Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Westgold 
Resources Limited, for a total cash consideration of $650,000 which was received on 3 September 
2019. As the Project was fully impaired at 30 June 2019, the Company will recognise a gain on sale 
of $650,000 in the 2019/20 financial year. 
 
On 11 September 2019 Evolution Mining Limited gave notice of its decision to proceed to Stage 2 
under the Earn-in and Exploration Joint Venture Agreement over the Drummond Gold Project having 
met the $2.0 million expenditure requirement under Stage 1 within 2 years of execution of the 
agreement. The Company received a $200,000 cash payment on 20 September 2019 from Evolution 
as a condition under the agreement of the election to go to Stage 2. 
 
On 30 September 2019 the Company released the results of a Scoping Study on the Poochera 
Halloysite-Kaolin Project which showed it to be a technically sound and financially robust venture 
and as a result the Company would be moving to the next stage to evaluate the Project in greater 
detail through Feasibility Studies with a view to potentially bring it into production within two years. 
 
Other than the above, there were no other matters or circumstances occurring subsequent to the end 
of the financial year that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the 
consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in 
future financial years.  
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Directors’ Declaration 
 
The directors declare that: 
 
(a) In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay 

its debts as and when they become due and payable; 
 

(b) In the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements are in compliance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, as stated in Note 3 to the financial statements; 

 
(c) In the directors’ opinion, the financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of 
the financial position and performance of the Group; and 

 
(d) The directors have been given the declaration required by Section 295A of the Corporation Act 2001. 
 
 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to Section 295(5) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
On behalf of the directors 
 
 
 

 
              
James E Marsh     Andrew N Shearer  
Managing Director     Non-Executive Director 
 
  
 
 
Adelaide, South Australia 
30th September 2019 
 



Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
 
Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte Network.  
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
11 Waymouth Street 
Adelaide, SA, 5000 
Australia 
 
Phone: +61 8 8407 7000 
www.deloitte.com.au 
  

 
Independent Auditor’s Report to the 
members of Andromeda Metals Limited 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of Andromeda Metals Limited (the “Entity”), and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.   

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including:  

a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of their 
financial performance for the year then ended; and  

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 
given to the directors of the Entity, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of 
this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

We draw attention to Note 3 in the financial report, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss 
before tax of $1,113,181 and had a net cash outflow from operating activities of $788,261 and a net cash 
outflow from investing activities of $1,055,307 during the year ended 30 June 2019. As stated in Note 3, 
these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3, indicate that a material 
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Our procedures in relation to going concern included, but were not limited to: 

 Inquiring of management and the directors in relation to events and conditions that may impact 
the assessment on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern; 

 
 Challenging the assumptions contained in management’s cash flow forecast in relation to the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern;  
 

 assessing the impact of events occurring after balance date on the financial statements; and
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 Assessing the adequacy of the disclosure related to going concern in Note 3. 
 
Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related 
to Going Concern section we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to 
be communicated in our report. 

Key Audit Matter  How the scope of our audit responded to the 
Key Audit Matter 

Exploration and evaluation assets 
 
As at 30 June 2019, the Group has capitalised $6.443 million 
of exploration and evaluation expenditure as disclosed in Note 
8. 

Significant judgement is applied in determining the treatment 
of exploration and evaluation expenditure including:  

 Whether the conditions for capitalisation are satisfied; 
 Which elements of exploration and evaluation 

expenditures qualify for recognition; and 
 Whether the facts and circumstances indicate that the 

exploration and expenditure assets should be tested for 
impairment. 

 

Our procedures included, but were not limited to: 
 Obtaining a schedule of the areas of interest held by the 

Group and assessing whether the rights to tenure of those 
areas of interest remained current at balance date; 

 Holding discussions with management as to the status of 
ongoing exploration programmes in the respective areas 
of interest; 

 Assessing whether any such areas of interest had reached 
a stage where a reasonable assessment of economically 
recoverable reserves existed; and 

 Assessing whether any facts or circumstances existed to 
suggest impairment testing was required. 

 
We also assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures 
included in Note 8 to the financial statements. 

 
Other Information  

The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the information 
included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the financial 
report and our auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we are 
required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also:   

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report.  We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group’s audit.  We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 
 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.  
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters.  We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on the Remuneration Report  

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 9 to 15 of the Director’s Report for the year 
ended 30 June 2019.  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Andromeda Metals Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2019, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Responsibilities  

The directors of Andromeda Metals Limited are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards.  

 

 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 

Darren Hall 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Adelaide, 30 September 2019 

 


